
MINUTES OF A REGLIT-AR MEETING OF THE CITY
COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COETJR D'ALENE. IDAHO.

HELD AT THE LIBRARY COMML,INITY ROOM

April 21. 2026

'l he Mayor and CounciI ol the City ol Coeur d'Alene nret in a regular session of said Council at
the Coeur d'Alene Ci[ Library Community Room on April 21, 2026, at 6:00 p.nr.. there being
present the tbllowing members:

[)an (irxrkin. Nlar'or

Amy Eviins
Christie Wood
Dan English
Kennl Gabriel
Dan Sheckler
Kiki Miller

) Membcrs of Council l)rcscnt

CALL TO ORDER: N1ayor Gookin called the meeting to order

PLED(;E OF ALLECIANCE: Malor Gookin led the pledge olallegiance.

IDAHO GIVES WEEK: Councilmember English read the Proclamation declaring May 4-7. 2026
as ldaho Ciives Week. Mr. Bill PlinsgralL Philanthropic Advisor of Idaho Community Foundation.
accepted the Proclamation. He explained that Idaho Gives supports over 600 nonprofits statewide.
He thanked the sponsors and donors as *ell as invited the community to participate in the kickoff
e\ent on Saturdal'. April 25, at McEuen Park.

NATIONAL FALLEN FIREFIGHTER MEMORIAL WEEK: Councilmember Gabriel read
the Proclamation declaring April 26 - N{a1 i. 2026 as National Fallen Firefighter Memorial \\'eek.
Interim Fire Chief Bill Derulter accepted the Proclamation. He noted that the Coeur d'Alene Fire
Dcpartnrcnt and Kootenai Countl' Fire and Rescue \\ill light their stations and communitr
buildings red tiom April 26 to May 3 in honor of t-allen firetighters as part of the national [.ight
the Night campaign. He invited the community' to parlicipate b1' displafing red lights and
mentioned that there will be a Red Light Bulb Giveawal at CDA Lou'es on April 25.

LIBRARYANNUAL REPORT: JD Smithson. Library Communications Coordinator. noted that
2025 '"vas a strong year focused on community engagement. lvelcoming spaces. and organizational
excellcnce. hightighted by the successful "Show Your Library Love" campaign fLrnded by the
Friends of the Library. Major accomplishments included transitioning to a ne\\' regional
consortium. upgrading technologl' and f-umishings. improving accessibilitl and signagc.
espanding commr"rnitl -led programming. and strengthening partnerships. [Jsage reached record
ler.els,urith 229.837 in-person visits. 320.018 r.rebsite visits. 340.136 items borror.red. and 40.525

)
)

)

)

)

Citl ( ouncil i\ler'ting April 11. 2026 Page

INVOCATION: John Padula provided the invocation.



program attendees across all age groups. Support tiom the Friends olthe Library and the Library
Foundation contributed significant volunteer hours and t-unding. u'hile the library u'as also
recognized as Best Library of North Idaho. reflecting stronB c()mmunitl support and stafT
dedication.

Councilmember Wood praised the Police Department's Annual Report and credited the ofTicers
and stafffor their hard u'ork. She stated that Coeur d'Alene has gained national recognition for its
lorv crime rates and asked Mr. Hagar to explain intelligence-led policing. Mr. l{agar explained that
the Department analyzes detailed data such as u'ho is committing crimes. uhere and lr'hen pattems
emerge. and horv trends develop: using tools such as field intervien's. bodl-camera tbotage. and
communitr'-provided video to deplol oflicers strategicalll. This targeted. data-driven approach
allous the Department to disrupt crime etlicientli'. often betbre patterns escalate. and has dra*n
interest from agencies across the Pacific Northuest seeking to replicate Coeur d'Alene's success.

LEGISLATM LIPDATE: Citr Attomel Randl Adams prorided an oven'ieu of the linal
outcomes of the 2026 legislative session. highlighting major bills alTecting public saf-et1. local
goYemment operations. land use. libraries. elections. ta\ation. and municipal authorit)'. Ke)'
actions included measures expanding benefits fbr Iallen and catastrophicalll, injured public safetl'
officers: honoring Battalion Chieli Frank Hanvood and John Morrison: changes to building
inspection timelines. school lacilitl permitting. e-bike regulations. and open-meeting recording
rights: amendments impacting library govemance and children's library protections: clarification
ol flag-display rules: and resolution of long-running tribal water rights litigation af'lecting Lake
Coeur d'Alene. Mr. Adams also noted legislation afitcting cash rounding practices. homemade
lood regulation. restroom access in public buildings. election filing procedures. and concems over
ongoing constraints on cit,v revenue growlh fiom prior tax legislation.

Alice Nielsen. Coeur d'Alene. shared a personal reflection on poaching. explaining hou'an essay

she u'rote at school led her to speak about wildlil-e protection and community responsibility. She

described poaching as a serious issue that occurs locally and disrupts wildlife populations. Ms.
Nielsen emphasized that hunting larvs exist to ensure balance, fairness. and respect tbr wildlif'e.
and that poaching undermines ethical hunters and tuture generations. She noted the importance ol'
education and awareness. especially in schools. to help people understand the consequences of

Page 2Ciq Council Meeting April 2 J . 2026

POLICE DEPARTMENT ANNUAL REPORT: Interim Police Chief Dave Hagar noted
signilicant public salety gains. including a 23.74% reduction in serious (Part One) crimes last year
and a76.20oh reduction since 2014. resulting in roughly 1.600 t'ewer victims annually compared
to a decade ago. Calls tbr sen,ice increased to ahout 19.552, rellecting strong community trust and
engagement. The department emphasized data-driven policing supported b1'' crime anall'sis.
altematives to arrest such as citations and diversion and the vital role of prof-essional stat}.
volunteers. and code enforcement. Key successes included eft-ective communitv partnerships.
major cases solved rlith public assistance. proactive do*ntonn policing that reduced serious crinre
to historicalll lou levels" expanded communitl' outreach programs. and progress on a neu training
lacilitl' to enhance oflicer satbtl'. profbssionalism. and accountabilitl.

PTIBT,IC COMMENTS:



poaching. concluding that protecting wildlit-e reflects the kind of communiq'ue choose to be and

that prevention is the onlJ'u'a)'to presene \\'hat cannot be replaced.

Deborah Rose. Kootenai Count-v. noted strong support tbr the appointment ofDave Hagar as Police
Chief'. citing his character. leadership. and deep understanding of the unique challenges ofpolicing
in North Idaho. She credited Mr. Hagar rvith helping signiticantll' reduce crime rl'hile sen ing as

second-in-command. maintaining public sal'et1' during large tourist events, and successfirlll
managing serious incidents 'without injuries. She emphasized Mr. Hagar's professionalism.
accountability in handling disruptive behavior, strong community relationships, and broad support
fiom the Coeur d'Alene Police Offrcers Association.

Steven Macaskill. Coeur d'Alene. urged the Council to consider internal continuity when
appointing a ne'nv Police Chief'. He stated that the Coeur d'Alene Police Department is perfbrming
at a high level. citing significant crime reductions. strong morale, minimal controvers)'. and broad
communitv trust as indicators ofsuccess. He stated that *hen a department is stable and etl'ective"
promoting fiom u'ithin helps presen'e morale and continuity.

Sara lrerris. Coeur d'Alene, expressed deep gratitude to police officers for their senice to the

communih. Drauing on her years uorking *ith children. seniors. and uorking residents. she

highlighted the lack of affordable. accessible public transportation between Coeur d'Alene and
Spokane as a grorving challenge. particularly lbr seniors. commuters, and families seeking
emplol'ment. healthcare. education. and entertainment opportunities. She asked the City to explore
future solutions, such as a potential shuttle bus connection to Liberty Lake.

Panr [,ohman. Coeur d'Alene. requested City Council support lor prioritizing repairs to Tubbs Hill
Drive. describing it as a critical access route fbr residents, visitors, city maintenance. and

emergency services that have seen sharply increased use. Citing more than 160,000 visits in 2025
lrom the east trailhead and over 200,000 annual visits tiom the 3rd Street entrance. Ms. l,ohman
outlined saf'et,".' and environmental concerns including deteriorated pavement. potholes. erosion.
poor drainage. lack ofsignage. and impacts to Lake Coeur d'Alene. She asked lor a compreh!'nsive
evaluation and repair plan addressing resurfacing. drainage improvements. edge stabilization.
speed limits. and trail-crossing signage. Ma1'or Gookin stated that this issue is on the City''s radar:
he spoke riith the Ciq 's Streets and Engineering Director and rvas intbrmed that thel r'vill conduct
a traflic count to better understand road*'a1 use. He also discussed this concem u.ith the Citl's
Trails Coordinator/ Urban Forester *ho indicated that resurt-acing Tubbs Hill Drive uould be

costl) due to required engineering consideralions. though further er,'aluation is needed to determine
next steps.

Chris Seaberg. Coeur d'Alene, stated additional sat'ety concems along Tubbs Hill Drive.
panicularly the unmonitored and heavily used stretch betr,,,een the trail crossing and the cul-de-sac
wherc the otlicial trail begins. He noted that trail counters do not capture this "de lacto trail" use

and recommended that an1'traffic study be conducted during the summer months. when tratlc
volumes. speeds. and safet"v risks are highest. He raised concems about pedestrians unexpectedly
enterinu the roadrval. especialll' visitors unfamiliar rvith the area. combined uith excessive vehicle
speeds on a narro\l gravel road uith blind corners. Mr. Seaberg recommended posting a reduced

Citl Council Meetirg April2l.2026 ['rgc -]



speed limit, adding advance trail-crossing signage fbr drivers. and improving overall awareness to
reduce risk and prevent f'uture accidents.

Don Craft. Coeur d'Alene, realfirmed the Coeur d'Alene Police Association's endorsement ol
Dave Hagar for Police Chiet. He reported that tbllowing interuien's with the linal fbur candidates,
the Association conducted a membership vote rvith an 85%o tumout. resulting in overr'"'helming
support lbr Mr. Hagar. Mr. Craft emphasized the Association's appreciation fbr being included in
the selection process and its long-standing. positire relationship *ith Citl Council. noting ollicers'
desire to continue tlie department's successlul uork under the leadership of Mr. Hagar.

Daniel Haley. Coeur d'Alene, offered strong support lbr Mr. Hagar's appointment as Police Chiel'.
He highlighted Mr. Hagar's role in translating strategic direction into etl'ective department-u'ide
leadership, leading by example, maintaining strong relationships rvith oflicers, and eaming their
loyalty and trust. He described Mr. Hagar as a trusted advisor during critical incidents and

emphasized that while other candidates are qualitied, Coeur d'Alene does not need a rebrand but
a "refiesh.'" uhich he believes Mr. Hagar uniquell pro'"'ides.

Lee White, Rathdrum, spoke in strong suppo( of Mr. Hagar's appointment as Police Chie1"

emphasizing his integrity, experience. and proven leadership. He credited Mr. Hagar with
championing manl'of the programs and practices that have contributed to the Police Department's
lou crime rates. strong communitl'trust. unbiased policing. and eflective handling of high-profile
incidents. He highlighted Mr. Hagar's education. administrative skill. and reputation lor honestl.
noting that integritl is central to eft'ective policing leadership. He asked the Council to recognize
the Department's current success. the broad suppon f'rom officers and the communitl. and the

importance of continuity.

Stu Miller, Coeur d'Alene, spoke in strong support ol Mr. Hagar stating that his impact since
joining the Coeur d'Alene Police Department has been greater than that of many past leaders

combined. He credited the leadership changes brought by Mr. Hagar and fbrmer Chief Lee White
as transfbrmatile and described Mr. Hagar as one of the smartest and mosl trusted colleagues he

knous. Mr. Miller emphasized that Mr. Hagar is the person he tums to tbr guidance. expressing

firll contidence in his leadership and encouraging the Council to recognize his contributions and

continued ralue to thc communin.

Cit) Council N'leeting April 21. 2026 Page .l

Mike Gridlel. Coeur d'Alene. spoke in opposition to the appointment ol Dave Hagar as Police
Chief, emphasizing that honest)'. integrity. and fair treatment ofemplolees are essential qualities
fbr department leadership. He referred to a pending federal court lausuit alleging that Mr. Hagar
and lbrmer Police Chiel White expressed dissatisfaction with another Captain fbr telling the truth
during an internal investigation and that retaliation and harassment tbllowed when that Captain
relused to provide untruthful ansr.vers. Mr. Ciridley noted that. according to investigation findings
cited in the la*suit. both tbrmer Chiel White and Mr. Hagar received letters of expectation
addressing issues such as team\\ork. acceptance ol administrative decisions. improper audio
recordings \\ithout consent. and interdepartmental cooperation. He urged Council to consider these

allegations and findings carefull-v rvhen evaluating Mr. Hagar's qualifications 1br the role of Police
Chiel-.



ANNOUNCEMENTS:

Councilmember Miller invited the community to celebrate the Citl' of Coeur d'Alene's 42nd
consecutive recognition as a Tree Cit,v IJSA by the National Arbor Day Foundation. The annual
celebration w ill be held on Friday, April 24. at City Park liom 10:00 a.m. - 12:00 p.m. and Saturday.
April 25 from l2:00 2:00 p.m. at the Molstead Library. North Idaho College parking lot, leaturing
tree seedling givea',vays, food, and additional activities.

Cor-rncilmember \Vood shared that the Parks and Recreation Commission met the previor-rs evening
and reviewed several agenda items that will be for-warded to Council tbr consideration at the Ma.v
5 meeting. One item vn'as tabled to allou,time lor additional intbrmation and input liom police and
fire staffbelore retuming to the Commission and moving through the General Services Committee
process. She also noted ongoing efforts to revierv park usage and commended Interim Parks
Director Adam Rouse tbr his leadership and the positive feedback received lrom the communitl.

Councilmember English, serving as Council Liaison to the Library Board. reported that recent
Iiblary meetings have been productive and reflected strong community engagement. He also
shared a message received earlier that day from a resident rvho planned to watch the Council
meeting and expressed appreciation fbr the respectful r.r'ay Council members interact. adding that
the resident prays daily fbr the City and its people.

Mayor Gookin clarified the Police Chielappointment items on the agenda. explaining that Council
had previously agreed that the responsibility to make the appointment rested r.vith lnterim City
Administrator Ron Jacobson, n'hose initial nomination ol Greg Yeager did not receive Council
appror"al. Follou'ing that vote. the intent rvas to def,er the decision to the next City Administrator;
however at the request of Councilmembers. the matter was rer,isited. Also" at the request ol
Councilmembers, Mayor Gookin placed Dave Hagar on the agenda, making that appointment
through Idaho statute. He noted that he rvill not be voting on this item. stating that under state law
he does not have authority to break a tie on this t)'pe ofappointment. He further expressed a desire
for Council to reach consensus to avoid another split decision. Councilmember Evans asked
whether a 3-3 vote would result in a lailed motion. Mr. Adams clarified that a I 3 tie constitutes
a def'eat of the motion, as a tied vote means the motion does not pass.

Mayor Gookin shared an obituary honoring Kenneth Earl Timmons who served at the Coeur
d'Alene Police Depafiment beginning June 1 971 . dedicating three decades of service and retiring
as a respected Police Captain in June 2002. He recognized his many years of dedicated serrice to
the community and expressed condolences to his family and loved ones during this difficult time.

Mai,or Gookin requested the appointment of Bruce Martinek to the Urban Forestry Committee.

MOTION: Motion by Gabriel, seconded b1'Miller, to contim the appointment of Bmce Martinek
to the Urban Forestry Committee. Motion carried.

CONSENT CALENDAR:
1 . Approval ol Council Minutes lbr the April 7, and 1 3, 2026 Council Meetings
2. Approval of Bills as Submitted.

City Council Meeting April 21. 2026 Page 5



3. Approval of Financial Report.
4. Approval olan Outdoor Eating Permit for Kevan Tumer. Lantem Donuts. 519 E

Sherman Avenue. l2 seats

MOTION: Motion by' Evans. seconded by Miller. to approve the Consenl Calendar as presented

ROLL CALL: Evans Aye: Sheckler A1,et Miller Aye: Gabriel Aye; English Aye: Wood Aye
Motion carried.

RIISOLt I'lO\ NO. 2(r-0-12

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE. KOOTENAI COLINTY. IDAHO.
APPROVING A LETTER OF AGREEMENT WITH KEENAN JOHNSON FOR
COMMERCIAL USE OF CITY STREETS FOR RECREATIONAL TRANSIl"

STAFF REPORT: Deputy City Clerk Kellel- Setters noted that on Ma1, 7. 2025. Ciq'Council
approved an agreement with Keenan Johnson. owner of Paddle Pub CDA LLC, to operate
commercial recreational transit on Citl' streets through October 31.2025. Mr. Johnson has
requested approval to continue trollel pub serv ices from Ma1' I through October 3 l . 2026 through
a new Letter of Agreement. The proposed operations include tours $'ith a masimum capacit) of
16 passengers. operating daill' between 8:00 a.m. and 10:30 p.m.. beginning and ending at
Jeremiah Johnson Breuing Companl. uith scenic and historical routes throughout th!' cit).
Additional adults-onl1' tours uill r"isit several local establishments. \\'ith no alcohol provided b1

the operator. Cit1, departments have revieued the request and erpressed no concerns. and the
proposal complies r.rith Municipal Code Chapter 5.18 regarding commercial use of Cit1, streets.
including required insurance and the City's abilitl to impose conditions or revoke the permit if
necessan'.

DISCLISSION: Mavor Cookin asked tbr clariflcation regarding the portion ol the pub tour
traveling through residential areas. specitically along 5th Street. Ms. Setters confirmed that this
routing is unchanged from last r,ear and is necessan'due to 4th Street being one-\\'a) northbound.
She noted that the operation receiled onll one complaint last 1'ear tiom a resident on Montana
Avenue. r.vhich u,as promptl)' resolved. She also contirmed that Police. Fire. and Streets
Departments \\'ere notifled and the1.' have no comments.

MOTION: Motion by Miller. seconded b1 (iabriel. to approve Resolution No.26-032 - Authorizing
a Letter of Agreement u'ith Keenan .lohnson and Paddle Pub CDA. t.t-C. fbr contnrercial use of the
Citr streets lor recrcational transit.

ITOLL CAI,L:
Nlotion carricd.

Sheckler A1'er Miller A1e : (iabriel A1e: Hnglish Aye: \ltxrcl Aye: Evans Aye.

City Council Meeting April 2 l. 20?6 Pasc 6

Councilmember Miller shared personal leedback alier participating in one olthe tours. noting she
rvas impressed uith hor.v respectful the operation ras to$,ard neighbors. particularl) regarding
music. traft-rc. and noise. She described the experiencc as positive. enjoyable. and well-managed.



MAYOR REQUESTS APPROVAL OF THE APPOINTMENT OF DAVE T{AGAR TO THE
POSITION OF POt,ICE CHIEF

MOTION: Motion by Wood. seconded by English. to approve the appointment olDave Hagar to
the position of Police Chief.

DISCUSSION: Councilmember Evans inquired on the appointment process and its legalitl'.
noting that the current action appears to deliate tiom the process originalll' established *hen
interrieu's lor the Police Chief position began. She requested guidance fiom Citl Attomel Randl
Adams. and asked for a legal opinion on hor.r Council should proceed.

Ma1'or Gookin explained the Mal or's appointment authorit) under Idaho statute. ri hich grants him
po\\'er to appoint citl'officers as necessary for eftlcient citl' operations. This is used in cities that
do not have a Cit) Administrator to make those appointments. as no other ofllcial has the authori5
to make those appointments outside of the Ma1or. especiallf in a small citl that doesn't have a
Cit) Administrator. The City olCoeur d'Alene does not have anl citl code that sa)'s that authority'
has been removed. The Citl has established the position of Cit) Administrator by code. and
Council approved the job description bl Resolution. that transf'ers appointnlent authorit)' ol
department heads to the Citl' Administrator. Mayor Gookin ref'erenced the Association of ldaho
Cities manual on appointments. He further explained that Idaho lalr does not allou'the Ma1'or to
break a tie vote on this lvpe olappointment and noted that he consulted with Mr. Adams b1'email
and provided him examples shou'ing when the Ma!'or cannot do it. but no examples rvhen the

Malor mal do so. Mayor Cookin added that the item would not have been placed on the agenda

il it uere not legal.

Page 7City Council Meeting April 21. 2026

DISCTISSION: Mayor Gookin noted that there has been discussion on social media that the reason
this appointment has become contentious is because Dave llagar lied. He cautioned Council that
no allegation that Mr. Hagar Iied should be repeated or relied upon as f-act unless and until it has

been properl1- investigated and substantiated. The allegation should be ref'erred to an appropriate
internal process and Mr. Hagar should be given notice ol this concem and an opportunitl' to
respond. He emphasized that due process must be aflbrded and that. if Council ultimately' chooses
not to appoint Mr. Hagar. the decision should be based on Iarvtul. evidence-based. and

non-defamatory reasons rather than rumor.

Mr. Adams explained that Rule 26 of the Citl's Personnel Rtrles. adopted b1' Council. clearll' states

that department heads are appointed b1'the Citl' Administrator. and Council does not vote on those

appointments: the Police Chiefis expressly defined as a department head. He conflrmed that when
the Mayor consulted him last ueek about Idaho Code s\ 50-204 whether it rvill support his
appointment of a Police Chief. he reviewed statutes and provided the Ma1'or '"vith a detailed
anall sis and his conclusion is that it does not grant the Ma1'or authority'to appoint a Police Chief
or other department heads. nor does it provide Council rvith contlrmation authority lbr such

appointments. The next day. he also provided the Mayor with a case fiom the Idaho Supreme Courl
decision in Bttnl v. Cit!- ol Garde n ('rti. which held that the legislature intentionalll' removed police

officers. including polioe chiet\. f'rom the category ofof}icers subject to mayoral appointment with
Council approval. Garden Cit), has made the Police Chiel'position an appointed olllcer and so the

Supreme Court held the ldaho Code $ 50-204 applied to Garden City. Mr. Adanrs lirrther noted



that uhile some cities. such as Meridian. allor ma1,'oral appointments of department heads bi their
citl code. Coeur d'Alene has designated the Police Chieias a department head. not an appointed
oftlcer. and has gir,en the power to appoint department heads solell'to the Citl Administrator. Mr.
Adams stated that the appointed officers in Coeur d'Alene are the Cit_v Clerk. City Treasurer. Citl
Attorne)'. and Ciq Administrator. He also consulted ri ith the Idaho Municipal Attomeys
Association and noted their agreement that under Idaho Code $ 50-204. a Mayor may not appoint
a department head unless the Ciq'has specilically designated that position as an appointed ofticial
pursuant to Idaho Code { 50-204. Accordingly. the Legal Department's opinion is that a mayoral
appointment olthe Police Chief would violate both the City's adopted Personnel Rules policy and

Idaho Code $ 50-204.

Mayor Gookin argued that the core issue befbre Council is a broader pon'er dispute n'ithin City
IIall. that the long-standing conflict between the Mayor and the City Attorney has influenced this
Police Chielappointment process. He contended that the City Attomel' did not provide advice but
exceeded his authority bv vetoing the Mayor. and stated his lack ol authorit)' through reliance on

Personnel Rules policy. He maintained that he has statutory authorit.v to make an appointment.
expressed loss oftrust in the Cit) Attomel"s legal advice. and disclosed that he has hired a private
counsel. Mr. Adams explained that he provided legal opinion based on t hat the lau sal s. Ma1'or

Gookin maintained that he has the legal right to make the appointment for Police Chief'. He
proceeded to inquire n'hether individual Councilmembers had been contacted b1'Mr. flagar and
the Police Association. and whether those contacts were retumed.

Councilmenrber Gabriel stated he has not been contacted by Mr. Hagar. though the Police
Association reached out to him. He has not responded in order to avoid worsening an already
dilllcult situation and to respect both the Association and the process. He clarified that they were
not instructed to avoid communication but were presented vr'ith options and he made a personal

decision accordingly. He reaffirmed his strong comnlitment to the Police Department and the City
and emphasized that he has no intention ol disrespecting the department or harming Mr. Hagar's
reputation. Councilmember Miller stated that she r.r'as contacted but did not reach out. She

commented that the situation felt highll,unusual like a cross eramination. She expressed concern
that this approach conflicted uith earlier assurances that the discussion uould not involve
defaming individuals or engaging rvith background noise. Councilmember Evans stated she *as
contacted b1' both parties. She met uith the Association's President tll.o ueeks ago over cotlee.
She rvas contacted b1 Mr. Hagarthe previous evening. but she \\'as attending a meeting and replic'd
b) te\t. Councilmember \Vood confirmed that she was contacted bl the Association. She slated
that throughout her time as an elected ofilcial. she consistentll retums calls and meets *ith
members or representatives of associations and unions. including the Police. Fire, and Lake Citl
I-mployees Association. Councilmember Sheckler stated that he met with the Police Association
representatives Don Craft and Joham Schmitz and had an in-depth discussion. He noted that he

has not been contacted by Mr. Hagar. Mr. Yeager. or any of the applicants, and likervise has not
reached out with any of them. Councilmember English acknowledged receipt of the Police
Association's memo and has spoken with Mr. Hagar.

Councilmember Sheckler noted the Mal or's disagreement rvith the Citl'Attome,v's legal opinion
regarding the Mayor's authority to make appointments. He asked rvhether the Malor accepted the

Citl Attomel's legal opinion and if he reiected it. whether he would seek independent legal

City Council Meeting April 21 . 2016 Page 8



Councilmember Gabriel stated that he does not. under an-v circumstance. r.vish to u-ork against the
May.or and asked that any such perception be dismissed. He inquired why a Council \ote $'as

necessary if the Mayor has the appointment authority. Mayor Gookin explained that the statute
provides that the Mayor may make appointments i.vith the approval olthe Council. which is n'hy
the matter is being brought fonvard lor a vote. He added that. unlike appointments made b1' a City
Administrator. the statute assigns appointment authoritv to the Mayor in the absence of an
Administrator, and that personnel rules and resolutions do not override state law. He expressed
concem that a potential "no" vote of Council nould be based on the belief that the May.or lacks
authority. a question he felt the public deserves to know rvhether the Mayor has statutory
appointment authoritv and rvhether a Citv Attomey has veto po\\'er over an elected mayor.

Councilmember Miller stated that she did not view the Citl'Attomey's response as a veto, but
rather as an answer to a question supported by specific flacts. She then asked w'h.v a Council vote
rvas required for the Cit"v Administrator's appointment of a Police Chief if such approval was not
otherwise necessary. Mal or Gookin explained that the contract with Mr. Jacobson required
Council approval due to concems about allor.l'ing an interim City Administrator to make unilateral
hiring clecisions. He stated that the purpose ofthis requirement was to ensure a structured process
and appropriate oversight. He emphasized that he and Mr. Jacobson are aligned on following that
process.

Councilmember Miller stated that she had a conversation with the President of the Police
Association and noted that Mr. Hagar contacted her to discuss rumors. but the call occured during
a meeting on an already full day. She chose not to engage. stating she did not want to parlicipate
in gossip or speculation and did not believe such a discussion r.r'ould be productive. She added that
she is unarvare ofthe background issues until later email exohanges.

Ciq Council Meeting April 21,2026 Page 9

opinion. Mayor Gookin responded that he obtained an independent legal opinion concluding he
has full statutory authority to make appointments and that city Personnel Rules and Resolutions
do not supersede state statutes, noting no citJ-code conflicts exist. Councilmember Sheckler asked
rvhether thc said legal opinion ref-erenced lr'as truly independent, noting that attomeys make a

decision based on i.vho their client is. He inquired whether the legal opinion provided reflected an

objective, independent analysis ofthe law or provided as an advocate for a client. Mayor Gookin
stated that his question n'as focused on u.hether the statute grants the Ma-vor authority to malie
appointments. He noted that this interpretation is supported by the Association of Idaho Cities'
Mayor Manual, which outlines and affirms the Ma-vor's appointment authorities. Councilmember
Sheckler asked about sharing the legal opinion publicly or r.vith Council, Mayor Gookin stated it
remains protected by attomey'-client prir.ilege r.vherein he is the client. He indicated he is open to
consider obtaining an independent legal opinion lbr the City as the client.

Councilmember Wood relerenced a past precedent on city personnel rules versus state lai.v. She

noted that in 2014. rvhen fbrmer Police Chief Lee White was hired. a similar situation occumed in
which former Mayor Steve Widmeyer made the appointment while the City uas operating under
an interim City Administrator. Mayor Gookin clarified that Mayor Widmyer did not lbrmally make
the appointn.rent but instead made the offer. He noted that the Council vote at that time was to
authorize to make an offer. not a direct appointment, so the cunent situation is different.



Ma1'or Gookin urged Council to base their decision solell on facts and not on rumors. Ile ref'erred

to a lefler to Council from Peter Erbland of Lake Citl Lari. an attome) aftrtiated uith the Citl's
insurance provider. riho described his prol'essional experiences rvith Mr. Hagar and praised his

attention to detail. investigative skill. and contribt(ions to efi-ective risk management \yithin the
Police Department. Mayor Gookin also expressed strong personal suppofi for Mr. Hagar. He stated
that '"vhile he uould appoint him if he had sole authoritl-. he rvanted to ensure consensus fiom
Council and urged them not to use legal authority concerns as a basis to dismiss this agenda item.

Councilmember Wood explained that her motion to appoint Dave Hagar as Police Chielwas based

on overwhelming positive testimony regarding his leadership, prolessionalism, and reputation
among oflicers, other agencies. and the community. She urged the Council to do w-hat they believe
is right. Mayor Gookin stated that he will support the Council's decision and emphasized that
decision-making authority rests u.ith the Council. He expressed hope that the outcome chosen r.r'ill

be in the hest interest ol the Citr'.

Councilmember Sheckler read his prepared statement recognizing the senice and dedication ol
the Police Department and ackno*ledging the strong intemal support for Mr. Hagar. emphasizing
that no criticism of his character or sen,ice to the communitl uas intended. He explained that he

previousll. r'oted against the Cit)' Administrator's recommendation as he needed more time to
gather more inlbmration. including input from prosecutors. the Police Oflicers Association
representatives. and other offlcers to ensure that his decision $as informed and thoughtlul.
Councilmember Sheckler stated that u,hile Mr. Hagar is well qualified, the Council's responsibilit)
is to act in the best interest ofthe City and not to choose the most popular option. consistent with
its long-standing govemance structure in which the City Administrator hires department heads.

Ordinarily, Council is not involved in the approval process. This structure exists for a reason. It
separates policy making from operational control and ensures that the City is managed by a

coordinated administrative team. Department heads must t'ork closely rvith Legal. lluman
Resources. and other departments. and the City Administrator is responsible for coordinating those
eflbns. For that rc'ason. Councilmember Sheckler stated that he placed significant rveight on the
interim Citl Administrator's recommendation and the inten'ier,, panel to maintain organizational
cohesion. He also raised concems about the representations made b1' the Ma1'or about an

independent legal opinion lrom his attome).and the concems he raised earlier regarding the Citl'
Attome). He erpressed confidence in the Citl Attorne)'s legal analvsis and pointed out that it is
grounded in case law. statutes. and citl policl'. He stated that he is open to the possibilit) ilthe
May or uould uant to obtain an independent legal opinion.

Mayor Gookin commented that the case law that Mr. Adams mentioned earlier specificalll'
addressed termination matters govemed by city code rather than appointment authorit,v established
by statute. tle added that olthe seven Idaho cities larger than Coeur d'Alene. six operate with a

lirll+ime Mayor and no City Administrator and in those cities the Mayor makes appointments with
Council approval.

Citl Council Meeting April2l.2026 Page l0

ROLL CALL: Miller No: Gabriel No: English Ay'e: Wood A.ve: Evans No: Sheckler No.
Motion failed.



CII-Y ADMINISTRATOR REQT-IESTS APPROVAL OF TI]E APPOINTMENT OF GREG
YEAGER TO THE POSIITON OF POLICE CHIEF

DISCUSSION: Councilmember Wood explained that she lr'ould not support Mr. Yeager's
nomination, citing the preference of the community and the Police Association. She expressed
concem that it would be diftlcult for Mr. Yeager to accept a role without the support of the
leadership.

Councilmember Miller acknowledged Councilmember Wood's valid concems. She noted that Mr.
Yeager did not have the same opportunity as Mr. IIagar to receive visible public supporl. submit
letters. or w'hat seemed to be a second round ofpublic comment on his credentials. She explained
that her perspective is inlbrmed by her role as a member of the intervien' panel and emphasized
that she, along with the other panelists. has the utmost respect fbr Mr. Hagar. She added that based
on the resume. interuieu' process, and overall discussions, the majority of the inten'ieu' groups
ranked Mr. Yeager highest. Councilmember Miller expressed confidence that bringing in fresh
ideas and nen'experience u,ould continue moving the Police Department in a positive direction.
while maintaining belief in the Department's integrit-v and leadership continuity. She emphasized
that her decision r.vas based solely on professional judgment and lr,hat she belier.ed is best fbr the
City of Coeur d'Alene.

Mayor Gookin stated that he u,orked to suppofi smoother relationships at City Hall between the
Police Department and Legal Department but expressed concem that appointing a new leader
could perpetuate the same pattern of allegations, rumors. and retaliation. He w'amed that the City
faces a choice betw-een bringing in someone r.vho ma1'be subjected to those same dvnamics or
someone w'ho might capitulate under them, concluding that the outcome of that decision rests with
the Council.

RECESS: Mayor Gookin called for a recess at 8:2zl p.m. I'he meeting reconvened at 8:29 p.m

(LEGTSLATTVE) V-26-01. VACATION OF A PORTION OF 8'r' STREET zuGHT-OF-WAY
ADJOINING THE WESTERLY BOUNDARY OF LOT 7. BLOCK 2. KELLER'S ADDITION

COTINCTL BILL NO. 26.IOO7

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF COEUR D'ALENE. VACATING A PORTION OF
PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY LOCATED IN THE KELLER'S ADDI]]ON TO COEUR D'ALENE
PLAT, RECORDED IN BOOK .'B'' OF PLATS AT PAGE 114, RECORDS OF KOO-fL,NAI
colJNTY, IDAIIO. GENERALLY DESCRIBED AS A TEN FOOT (10') WIDE STRIP OF
LAND BEINC A PORTION OF'8TH STREET RIGHT.OF-WAY AD.IOINING TIIE WEST

Paire ll

MOTION: Motion by Sheckler seconded by Evans, for the approval of the appointment of Greg
Yeager to the position of Police Chief.

ROLL CALL: Gabriel A1e; English No; Wood No; Evans Ay'e; Sheckler Ay'e: Miller Ay'e.
Motion carried.

Cit,v Council Meeting April 21.2026



BOUNDARY OF LOT 7. BLOCK 2 SITUATE IN A PORTION OF TI{E NORTT]EAST
QUARTER OF SECTION I3. TOWNSHIP 5O NORTH. RANGE 04 WEST. BOISE MERIDIAN.
CITY OF COELIR D'ALENE. KOOTENAI COUNTY. IDAHO; REPEALING ALL
ORDINANCES AND PARTS OF ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH: PROVIDINC
A SEVERABILII.Y CLAUSE: AND PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLICATION OF A
SI-]MMARY OF ]'HIS ORDINANCI] AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE HEREOF.

STAFF REPORT: Streets and Engineering Project Manager Dennis Grant explained that the
applicants. Michael and Alll son Sterling. are requesting the r.acation of a portion ol 8'h Street
right-of-nav that adjoins the $est boundary of their propert)' on the northeast comer ol8rh Street
and Hastings Avenue. The purpose is to vacate a lO-foot-rvide portion of8th Street along the $est
boundary of the adjacent propert). This section ol 8th Street is alreadl der.eloped to its ultimate
rl'idth. and the excess right-of--lvav. uithin an existing 8O-loot corridor lhere 60 feet is standard.
All utilities are in place. the Development Revie*.Team has been notified, and the vacation would
have no financial impact on the City. Mr. Grant noted he sent out 47 certified mailings and received
one response that is in tar,or of the requested vacation.

PI-IBLIC TESTIMONY: Mayor Gookin opened the public testimony portion of the hearing.

Kathy Kincel, Coeur d'Alene. spoke in opposition to vacating a portion of 8th Street to a single
property orvner. She explained that 8rh Street is a wide. dead-end street r,vith landscaped bufl-er
strips and tree Iines and currently lacks a sidew-alk in the area under consideration. She expressed
concern that vacating to one homeou'ner r.vould set a precedent for many other property or.vners
along the street. efJ-ectively giving away public land u,ithout having to pay ibr the prope(y at
current market r,'aluc. She also raised concems about increased densiq and traffic impacts.

Councilmember Miller asked whether sidewalks exist on the block in question. Ms. Kincel
responded that there are no sidewalks on that specific block. which includes only a few homes
rvithin the dead-end area near Bryan Elementary School and is primarily used for drop-olf access
rather than general public travel. She noted that garage expansions are more common in that
limited area.

With no additional comments received. Ma1-or Gookin closed public restimon\'.

DISCUSSION: Ma1,or Gookin asked Mr. Grant to clarifl'concems about rvhether a propenv
o\\'ner \\'as gaining puhlic land $ithout pa) ment. Mr. Grant erplained that under state code.
prope() that $as originalll dedicated to the public during the platting process. in this case dating
back to 1905" cannot be sold b1' the city. Instead. ilsuch propeq'is vacated. the lau requires it to
be returned to the current adjacent properq owner. He noted that because the land uas originalll'
dedicated to public use rather than purchased bl the Ciry,. the City is required to fbllo* stare la\\.
and r,acate it back to the propertl. ouner rather than sell it. He added that vacating the property
does invol'"e costs fbr the applicant. including a $1.000 application fee and expenses associated
with hiring a consultant to prepare exhibits. coordinate uith the title compan1,. and complete
required notitications. He noted that staffsent 47 certified mailings at a cost of $l1.37 each as part
olthe process. Mr. Grant also clarified sidewalk conditions. stating that while some areas of the
street have sidewalks and others do not. the subject block does not cuffently have a sidewalk. He

Pagc l2Citl Council Mcctins April f l. l0f 6



added that sidervalk requirements nra)' be addressed in the future ifadditions or improvements are

made to the properR' under applicable code requirements.

Councilmember Sheckler asked ilhether lacating the righrof-ri ay lvould change setbacks and Mr.
(irant explained that the right-ol'-u'ay along that portion of 8th Street is unusually rvide.
approximately 80 feet. dating back to the original 1905 plat. possibly reflecting a past plan for a
larger thoroughfare. Councilmemher Sheckler raised concem that vacating the right-of-way could
disrupt the continuity of the landscaped planting strip along the street. Mr. Grant responded that
sidervalks would remain within the standard 60-fbot right-of'-rva1' and that the vacation only allects
excess right-of-way present tbr several blocks u'ithin the original subdivision. He noted that
similar r. acations have alreadl' been approved tbr nvo nearbl properiies and that sidervalk presence

varies along the corridor. He added that u'hile such requests are not frequent. several have been

considc-red recentlv in difl'erent locations around the citr'.

Councilmember Gabriel asked ho* liequently' the City processes this t!pe of request. Mr. Grant
responded that such cases are relatively uncommon, noting one instance oscurred about a year ago.
while in earlier years there had been a n.ruch higher volume. He added that in the current year there
are two active cases, with discussions underway on an additional two to three requests, bringing
the potential total to four or llve.

Councilmember Miller asked how vacating the right-ol'-r.va1' would afiect sideu'alk requirements.
noting previous discussions about mandatorl sidervalks in school zones rvhen permits are pulled.
Mr. Grant responded that uhile the subject propert)' cunentl) does not have a sidervalk. there
remains adequate space for one sithin the remaining right-of--r,' ar'. He explained that u'hether a

sideualk qould be required depends on the nature offuture improvements and applicable policies
and standards. but the vacation itsellri'ould not prevent a sidewalk fiom being installed ifrequired.

Counciln.rember Wood asked hou vacating the right-ol'-u'a1, u'ould beneflt the City. Mr. Grant
explained that the primary benetlt uould be increased tax revenue. as the vacated properfy'would
retlrm to the tax rolls. He added that although some property owners request these vacations. many
choose not to pursue them because they do not want to assume maintenance responsibilities or
incur additional property taxes.

MOTION: Motion b1-English. seconded bl Mitler to dispense uith the rule and read Council
Bill No. 26-1007 once hv title onh.

ROLL CALL: Gabriel ,A1e: English .A1e: Wood No: Evans Ay e: Sheckler No: Miller A1'e

Motion carried,

MOTION: Motion b.v Evans. seconded b1 Miller. to adopt Council tlill 26-1007.

DISCUSSION: Councilmember Miller stated that even if the righrof'-way is vacated. there would
still be sulflcient space to install a sidewalk if needed. and thcrefbre the City would not lose a
firnctional public use. She noted that the prope(y does not serve another practical purpose and
concluded that retaining it of}-ers little benefit to the Cit1. ln contrast. r acating the propertl'uould
henetit the landorvner and allou the Cliti to gain additional ta\ revenue.

Citl Council Meeting - April ?1.2026 Pase I -l



Councilmember English noted that he i'requently' drives this route on lhe rval to his ofiice and

occasionalll choose it instead olan alternate street, describing it as a scenic route.

Councilmember Sheckler explained that $'hat makes the route scenic is the neighborhood design.

including sider.valks set farther back liom the street. rvider building setbacks, and homes spaced

firrther apat. He expressed concern lhat vacating the right-of'-way could disrupt the visual
continuity and character ofthe neighhorhood, noting that while he appreciates stafT's explanations.
hc remains cautious about potential long-term impacts to the area's cohesiveness.

ROLLCALL: Gabriel ,{1e: EnglishNor WoodNo: EvansA1e: ShecklerNo: MillerAye
Mal or Gookin l'oted A1-e to break the tie vote. Motion carried.

RECESS: Motion by Evans. seconded by Gabriet. to recess to April27,2026 at 12:00 noon in the
Library Community Room. located at 702 E. Front Avenue fbr a Budget Workshop. Motion
carried.

'fhe meeting ended at 8:47 p.m.

[)an ic Gookin. NIar or

,,\l l l:S.l'

.I nne Mateski
cutive Assistant

Citl Council Meeting - April 21. 2016 Page I.l


